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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA
BILLINGS DIVISION
NATIVE ECOSYSTEM COUNCIL, and
ALLIANCE FOR THE WILD ROCKIES,
Plaintiffs,
vs.
JON RABY, Acting State Director, the
BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT,
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, an
agency of the United States.
Defendants.

CVCOMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF

I. INTRODUCTION
1.

This is a civil action for judicial review under the citizen suit provision of the
Administrative Procedure Act of the U.S. Bureau of Land Management’s
(BLM) authorizations, analyses, and lack thereof within the Elkhorns
Cooperative Management Area (ECMA) related to and regarding the Iron
Mask Planning Area (Project).
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2.

Plaintiffs Native Ecosystems Council and Alliance for the Wild Rockies attest
that the recent decisions of Defendants which authorized livestock grazing,
sagebrush removal, conifer reduction and prescribed burning across public
lands within the ECMA are arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion,
and/or otherwise not in accordance with law.

3.

Defendants’ actions or omissions violate the National Environmental Policy
Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. 4331 et seq., the Federal Land Policy and Management
Act (FLPMA), 43 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq., and the Administrative Procedure Act
(APA), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq., by failing to take a hard look

4.

Plaintiffs request that the Court set aside the Project pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §
706(2)(A) and enjoin implementation.

5.

Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, the award of costs
and expenses of suit, including attorney and expert witness fees pursuant to
the Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA) 28 U.S.C. § 2412, and such other relief
as this Court deems just and proper.
II. JURISDICTION

6.

This action arises under the laws of the United States and involves the United
States as a Defendant. Therefore, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction
over the claims specified in this Complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,
1346.

7.

An actual controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants. Plaintiffs’
members use and enjoy the ECMA and specifically the Iron Mask Planning
Area for hiking, fishing, hunting, camping, photographing scenery and
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wildlife, and engaging in other vocational, scientific, spiritual, and
recreational activities. Plaintiffs’ members intend to continue to use and
enjoy the area frequently and on an ongoing basis in the future.
8.

The aesthetic, recreational, scientific, spiritual, and educational interests of
Plaintiffs’ members have been and will be adversely affected and irreparably
injured if Defendants continue to implement the Project. These are actual,
concrete injuries caused by Defendants’ failure to comply with mandatory
duties under NEPA, FLPMA and the APA. The requested relief would redress
these injuries and this Court has the authority to grant Plaintiffs’ requested
relief under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 & 2202, and 5 U.S.C. §§ 705 & 706.

9.

Plaintiffs submitted timely written comments and objections concerning the
Project in the available administrative review process, thus they have
exhausted administrative remedies. Therefore, the Court has jurisdiction to
review Plaintiffs’ APA claims.
III. VENUE

10.

Venue in this case is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) and LR 3.2(b)(1)(C).
Defendant Raby resides within the Billings Division of the United States
District Court for the District of Montana.

IV. PARTIES
11.

Plaintiff NATIVE ECOSYSTEMS COUNCIL (NEC) is a non-profit Montana
corporation with its principal place of business in Three Forks, Montana.
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Native Ecosystems Council is dedicated to the conservation of natural
resources on public lands in the Northern Rockies. Its members use and will
continue to use the ECMA and the Iron Mask Planning Area for work and for
outdoor recreation of all kinds, including fishing, hunting, hiking, horseback
riding, and cross-country skiing. The BLM’s unlawful actions adversely affect
Native Ecosystems Council’s organizational interests, as well as its members’
use and enjoyment of the ECMA and the Iron Mask Planning Area. Native
Ecosystems Council brings this action on its own behalf and on behalf of its
adversely affected members.
12.

Plaintiff ALLIANCE FOR THE WILD ROCKIES (Alliance) is a tax-exempt, nonprofit public interest organization dedicated to the protection and
preservation of the native biodiversity of the Northern Rockies Bioregion, its
native plant, fish, and animal life, and its naturally functioning ecosystems. Its
registered office is located in Missoula, Montana. The Alliance has over 2,000
individual members, many of whom are located in Montana. Members of the
Alliance observe, enjoy, and appreciate Montana’s native wildlife, water
quality, and terrestrial habitat quality, and expect to continue to do so in the
future, including in the Iron Mask Planning Area and in the ECMA. Alliance’s
members’ professional and recreational activities are directly affected by
Defendants’ failure to perform their lawful duty to protect and conserve
these ecosystems as set forth below. Alliance for the Wild Rockies brings this
action on its own behalf and on behalf of its adversely affected members.
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13.

Defendant JON RABY is the Acting State Director for the Montana/Dakotas
Bureau of Land Management.

14.

Defendant U.S. BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT (BLM) is an administrative
agency within the U.S. Department of Interior, and is responsible for the
health, diversity and productivity of public lands for the use and enjoyment
of present and future generations.

15.

Defendant U.S. DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR (Interior) is an agency or
instrumentality of the United States, charged by law with administering the
public lands at issue in this litigation.
V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

16.

The BLM released a draft Environmental Assessment for the Iron Mask
Project on June 6, 2014. NEC and Alliance provided comments on the draft
EA on July 18, 2014.

17.

The Iron Mask Project addresses management issues regarding land
acquisition, travel planning, a forage reserve and other grazing
authorizations.

18.

The BLM produced a Final Environmental Assessment (Iron Mask EA) for the
Iron Mask Project on July 1, 2015.

19.

The BLM signed the Decision Record authorizing the Project and a Finding of
No Significant Impact Statement (FONSI) on July 1, 2015.

20.

The agency chose to implement Alternative B, the Preferred Alternative.

21.

The FONSI concluded that an EIS is not required because no significant short
or long-term impacts were identified in the Iron Mask EA.

Case 1:18-cv-00055-SPW-TJC Document 1 Filed 03/23/18 Page 6 of 27

22.

On March 7, 2016, the BLM issued a final grazing decision for the Indian
Creek Forage Reserve Allotment, which implemented Alternative B as
analyzed in the Iron Mask EA.

23.

On August 11, 2015 Alliance and NEC administratively appealed the Decision
Record, which was rejected August 24, 2015.

IRON MASK PLANNING AREA & ACTIVITIES
24.

The planning area is located in the Upper Missouri Watershed Basin, in
Broadwater and Jefferson County northwest of Townsend, Montana.

25.

The planning area covers approximately 124,933 acres within Broadwater
and Jefferson Counties, Montana.

26.

The decision area, the BLM-administered lands within the planning area
considered here, consists of 19 separate BLM-owned land parcels totaling
26,235 acres.

27.

The Project authorizes “conifer reduction” (juniper woodland reduction) on
5,397 acres. Of those acres, 978 acres will be subject to prescribed fire and
the remaining treated by hand and mechanical means.

28.

The Project also authorizes grazing within the Elkhorn Mountains Area of
Critical Environmental Concern.

29.

The Project allows utilization of 937 AUMs over 8,088 acres of the Indian
Creek Forage Reserve Allotment, located within the Elkhorn Mountains Area
of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC).
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30.

The FONSI stated, “the actions analyzed in the Iron Mask Planning
Environmental Assessment would not constitute a major Federal action that
would significantly affect the quality of the human environment.”

31.

The FONSI further stated, “environmental analysis documented no major
effects on unique geographic features of the area, cultural or historic
resources, park lands, prime farmlands, wetlands, wild and scenic rivers, or
ecologically critical areas”.

ELKHORN MOUNTAINS
32.

The Elkhorn Mountains are an isolated and unique mountain range of about
250,000 acres.

33.

About 160,000 acres of the Elkhorn Mountains are managed by the Helena
and Beaverhead-Deerlodge National Forests. This portion is managed as the
only Wildlife Management Unit in the National Forest System.

34.

About 75,000 acres of the Elkhorn Mountain foothills are managed by the
BLM under the Butte Resource Management Plan (Butte RMP).

35.

The BLM, United States Forest Service (USFS), and Montana Department of
Fish, Wildlife and Parks (FWP) cooperatively manage the Elkhorn
Cooperative Management Area to cooperatively manage the Elkhorn
Mountains as an ecosystem.

36.

In 1992, the BLM, USFS, and Montana FWP entered into a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) “to manage the Elkhorns as a contiguous ecosystem
across boundaries with a emphasis on healthy wildlife and fish habitats.”

37.

The agencies signed an updated MOU in 2014.
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38.

Pursuant to the MOU, the Elkhorns are managed for the opportunity to hunt
large, mature bull elk, among other management goals. Elkhorn bull permits
are among the most sought after in Montana.

39.

Management of the Elkhorns is controversial. “Primarily, the number of elk
and their management is an on-going controversial issue, particularly as it
relates to domestic livestock grazing opportunities.”

40.

Wildlife habitats have been compromised by the loss of vegetative diversity
due to the influences of grazing, mining, recreation and other human uses of
the Elkhorns.

41.

Hiding cover and security habitat are key to ensuring a healthy elk
population that supports Montana FWP’s management goals of Hunting
District within the Elkhorns and goals of the Wildlife Management Unit (USFS
designation) and the Area of Critical Environmental Concern (BLM
designation).

42.

The BLM’s Areas of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC) designations
highlight areas where special management attention is needed to protect
important historical, cultural and scenic values, fish and wildlife or other
natural resources.

43.

The Butte RMP designated 50,431 acres as the Elkhorn Mountains ACEC
because of its “diverse upland and aquatic habitat for wildlife and fish.”

44.

The Iron Mask Environmental Assessment states that “Management of the
Elkhorn Mountains ACEC is focused primarily on . . . Important
cultural/historical sites, diverse upland and aquatic habitat for the wildlife
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and fish, and unique natural management area (referring to the USFS lands
being designated as a Wildlife Management Unit) and cooperative
management of the area with the BLM, USFS, and FWP.”
45.

“For the Iron Mask [Decision Area], wildlife, habitat and unique management
area are the primary values. . .” for the Elkhorn Mountains ACEC.

46.

“Most of the Decision Area was designated in the Butte RMP as part of the
Elkhorn Mountain ACEC.”

47.

Approximately 15,019 acres of the Elkhorn Mountains ACEC are within the
Iron Mask Planning Area.

48.

The Iron Mask EA failed to analyze and disclose the Project’s impacts on the
Elkhorn Mountain Area of Critical Environmental Concern.

BUTTE RMP
49.

The Butte RMP sets forth land management standards for the Project Area.

50.

Throughout the Butte Field Office region, all BLM authorized activities must
meet or move toward providing habitat to maintain a viable and diverse
population of native plant and animal species, including special status
species.

51.

As stated above, the Butte RMP designated 50,431 acres as the Elkhorn
Mountains ACEC.

52.

The Butte RMP states that within the Elkhorn Mountains ACEC, “Wildlife and
wildlife habitats will be managed to support populations of species
associated with endemic vegetative communities, with emphasis on
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providing the necessary habitat components for those species with special
needs.”
53.

The Butte RMP further states, “Current direction outlined in the
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) signed by the Montana Fish Wildlife
and Parks (MFWP), USFS, and BLM will be followed within a modified
boundary from the one described in the MOU.”

54.

Additionally, the Butte RMP objectives provide that a total of 150-500 acres
of shrubland in the Upper Missouri Watershed may be treated for conifer
reduction per decade.

55.

The Butte RMP objectives provide that a total of 1,750- 6,000 acres of
grassland in the Upper Missouri Watershed may be treated for conifer
reduction per decade.

56.

The Butte RMP objectives provide that a total of 100-200 acres of riparian
vegetation habitat in the Upper Missouri Watershed may be treated for
mechanical and/or prescribed burning treatment per decade.

57.

The MOU and the Butte RMP requires specific “Project Criteria” be utilized to
identify possible conifer colonization management projects. These criteria
must be evaluated by the Elkhorn Implementation Group to determine if
there is a need to manage encroaching conifers.

58.

The Iron Mask Decision authorizes treatment 978 acres of
“grassland/shrubland type habitat” within the Indian Creek Allotment to
reduce conifer expansion.

Case 1:18-cv-00055-SPW-TJC Document 1 Filed 03/23/18 Page 11 of 27

59.

The BLM failed to disclose and analyze Project Criteria for the Iron Mask
conifer colonization management treatments. It further failed to disclose the
Elkhorn Implementation Group’s evaluation of these criteria.

60.

The BLM failed to disclose the Butte RMP objectives and further fails to
analyze whether the Project meets or exceeds the Butte RMP objectives.

61.

The BLM does not analyze whether the Project meets or exceeds the
objectives for conifer reduction in grassland or shrubland habitats.

62.

The BLM does not provide the number of acres of grassland or shrublands or
riparian areas treated in the last decade.

INDIAN CREEK FOREST RESERVE ALLOTMENT
63.

The Iron Mask Planning Area contains 15 active livestock grazing allotments,
including the Indian Creek Allotment.

64.

The Indian Creek Allotment was previously 2,215 acres and 376 AUMs.

65.

In 2007, the BLM acquired 5,566 acres of land adjacent to the Indian Creek
Allotment (Iron Mask Acquisition) to “protect important resource values”
and “improve wildlife habitat near the Missouri River corridor . . .”

66.

The Butte RMP authorizes the expansion of the Indian Creek Allotment by an
additional 5,566 acres and 700 AUM by including the Iron Mask Acquisition.

67.

The Iron Mask Project implements this expansion.

68.

This expanded Indian Creek Allotment is located in the ECMA and managed
as a forage reserve allotment (Indian Creek Reserve Allotment).

69.

A forage reserve allotment is an allotment without a term grazing permit that
is grazed on a temporary nonrenewable basis.
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70.

This type of allotment is used “to provide temporary grazing to rest other
areas.”

71.

The Iron Mask decision authorizes up to 1,086 AUMs within the Indian Creek
Reserve Allotment.

72.

Grazing on this allotment will remove approximately 40% of the existing
herbaceous forage.

73.

Vegetation less than 4 inches high “reduces forage availability for livestock
and wildlife.”

74.

Grazing on the forage reserve allotment will result in competition for forage
between cows and herbivorous wildlife.

75.

Grazing by cattle reduces plant biomass available and does not increase
nutritional value of the remaining plant biomass thus reducing potential for
available forage for wildlife.

76.

The majority of the uplands located on the lower elevation of the Indian
Creek Reserve Allotment are currently in an “undesirable state” and “may
have crossed a threshold in plant communities from that expected for the
area.”

77.

The Iron Mask EA states that the Indian Creek Reserve Allotment is
dominated by cheatgrass, Dalmation toadflax, and lacks bluebunch
wheatgrass and also notes a shift away from a dominance of deep-rooted
perennials and toward more shallow rooted species.
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78.

The Iron Mask EA concludes that increased livestock grazing on this already
degraded allotment will “help increase vigor and reproductive opportunities
for plants” but fails to disclose how.

79.

The BLM does not analyze or disclose how or why grazing will “help increase
vigor.”

80.

The BLM does not analyze or disclose the Project’s effects species with
special needs or special status species or their habitat components.

VEGETATION TREATMENTS
81.

The Iron Mask planning area is within the Upper Missouri Watershed Basin.

82.

The Butte RMP and the MOU require the BLM to utilize the best available
science to work towards obtaining desired conditions within the ECMA: “Wethe Agencies who manage the wildlife and land in the Elkhorns- will use
published peer-reviewed scientific literature to guide vegetation and wildlife
management.”

83.

The Decision authorizes a total of 5,397 acres of vegetation treatments
within three different treatment areas: Indian Creek Forage Reserve, Shep’s
Ridge, and Limestone Hills.

84.

The purpose of these vegetation treatments is to reduce juniper woodlands.

85.

The Decision authorizes 3,569 acres of forest treatments in the Indian Creak
Reserve Allotment, which equates to 46% of the total acres within the Indian
Creek Reserve Allotment.

86.

About 978 acres would be treated with prescribed fire. “These acres were
determined by where burns could be safely controlled”.
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87.

The Iron Mask EA does not disclose how many acres will be treated in the
Shep’s Ridge Treatment Area.

88.

In 2006, a 1,200 acres mastication and prescribed burn treatment was
completed on Shep’s Ridge.

89.

The Limestone Hill treatment is subdivided into four Treatment Areas:
Whipcracker, Aspen Stands, Cold Springs and Springs Development Area.

90.

Up to 344 acres would be treated by hand cutting and mechanized operation
in Whipcracker, a total of 298 acres of prescribed fire and hand cutting would
be treated in the Spring Development Area, and a total of 125 acres would be
treated by hand cutting and terra-torching (flame throwing device).

91.

The Iron Mask decision authorizes treatment of the entire stretch of Indian
Creek and the West Fork of Indian Creek totaling approximately 69 acres.

92.

The Decision authorizes approximately 21 acres of riparian treatment in the
Kelly Spring Gulch.

93.

There are published scientific articles that demonstrate that juniper
woodlands expand and contract as per climatic conditions and that low
severity fire is not a natural component.

94.

Further, best available science demonstrates that fire rotations in juniper are
believed to range from 400-450 years.

95.

Juniper woodland ecosystems are one of the highest priorities for
conservation because it has a considerable number of declining species. One
of the threats identified to juniper woodlands is deforestation through
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control of juniper woodlands, such as the treatments plan in the Iron Mask
Project.
96.

The BLM fails to analyze the vegetation treatments impacts on wildlife.

97.

The BLM fails to analyze and disclose whether the vegetation treatments
meet or exceed the grassland and shrubland objectives set forth in the Butte
RMP.

98.

The BLM does not disclose the objective for riparian vegetation habitat set
forth in the Butte RMP or analyze whether the Project meets that objective.

99.

The BLM does not disclose the riparian objective set forth in the Butte RMP
for the project area and further fails to analyze and disclose whether the
treatment meets that objective.

100.

The BLM fails to disclose the science and reasoning supporting its conclusion
that the Project benefits plant communities and wildlife.

101.

The BLM fails to analyze and disclose the cumulative impacts of the previous
1,200 acres mastication and prescribed burn treatment on Shep’s Ridge on
the project area.

JOHNNY CROW PROJECT CUMULATIVE EFFECTS
102.

The Helena and Townsend Ranger District of the U.S. Forest Service
authorized a logging and burning project directly adjacent to the Iron Mask
Project, which is called the Johnny Crow Wildlife Habitat Improvement
Project (“Johnny Crow Project”)

103.

The Forest Service issued a Decision Memo approving the Johnny Crow
Project March 2, 2017. Currently, minor activities are being implemented in
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the Jonny Crow Project. Additionally, the Johnny Crow Project is currently in
litigation. (Native Ecosystem Council, Montana Ecosystem Defense Council v.
Leanne Martin et al., CV 9:17-CV-00077-DLC, (D. Mont).)
104.

The map below shows the Johnny Crow Project Area. The purple line
represents the Johnny Crow Project Area boundary. The red line (drawn by
counsel) highlights where the Indian Creek and the West Fork of Indian
Creek meet. The rust color indicates the treatment areas within the Johnny
Crow Project.
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105. The map below shows the confluence of Indian Creek and West Fork of Indian
Creek (red line- drawn by counsel) and its relation to the Iron Mask Planning Area
(indicated in yellow shading). The purple line (drawn by counsel) indicates the
approximate Johnny Crow Project boundary.

105.

The vegetation treatments in the Iron Mask Project are adjacent to the
vegetation treatments in Johnny Crow.

106.

The BLM fails to disclose the existence of the Johnny Crow Project and
further fails to analyze any potential cumulative effects of projects together.
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WILDLIFE
107.

“The planning area provides important big game habitat.”

108.

Elk winter in the upper and middle elevations in the planning area and
generally move to upper elevations in the summer.

109.

Grey Wolves, Brewer’s sparrow, golden eagle, McCown’s longspur, sage
thrasher, the Northern Leopard frog and westslope cutthroat trout have all
been documented in the planning area.

110.

These species are considered “Special Status Species”.

111.

Special status species include proposed species, listed species, and candidate
species under the ESA; state-listed species; and BLM State Directordesignated sensitive species.

112.

The Iron Mask Decision authorizes construction of over 8.5 miles of new
fence.

113.

Fences constitute hazards to wildlife from entanglement or blocking of
movement.

114.

The BLM does not disclose the objectives for forest habitat, grassland habitat
or shrubland habitat for wildlife.

115.

The Iron Mask decision conclusively states that the Project will benefit
wildlife, yet fails to disclose what objectives the Project attempting to move
towards or how it meets those objectives.

116.

The BLM fails to disclose or analyze the Indian Creek Forage Reserve
Allotment’s direct, indirect and cumulative impacts on wildlife, including
special status species and species with special needs.
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117.

The Iron Mask EA fails to analyze and disclose the Indian Creek Forage
Reserve Allotment’s direct, indirect and cumulative impacts on elk
populations within the Decision Area.

118.

The BLM did not disclose objectives for wildlife in the Project Area including
hiding cover, thermal cover and security and further failed to analyze and
disclose if the objectives are met.

119.

The BLM fails to analyze the direct, indirect or cumulative impacts of new
fencing on wildlife.
VI. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
The Iron Mask Decision violates NEPA and the APA

120.

All previous paragraphs are incorporated by reference.

121.

The BLM violated NEPA by failing to examine the direct, indirect and
cumulative impacts of the Iron Mask Decision on wildlife.

122.

NEPA requires federal agencies’ environmental analysis to consider “any
adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided.” 42 U.S.C.
§4332(2)(C)(ii). When several actions may have cumulative or synergistic
environmental impacts, BLM must consider these actions together and
prepare a comprehensive environmental analysis.

123.

Agencies are required to take a hard look at direct, indirect and cumulative
impacts of a proposed action. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.25(c).

124.

Direct impacts are “caused by the action and occur at the same place and
time.” Id. § 1508.8(a). Indirect impacts are “caused by the action and are later
in time or further removed in distance but are still reasonably foreseeable.”
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Id. § 1508.8(b). Cumulative impacts are “the impacts[s] on the environment
which result from the incremental impact of the action when added to other
past, present and reasonably foreseeable future actions, regardless of what
agency (Federal or non-Federal) or person understands such actions.” Id. ¶
1508.7
125.

The Iron Mask Project EA indicates that wildlife and habitat are primary
values for the decision area.

126.

The Elkhorn Mountain ACEC was designated because of its important wildlife
resources.

127.

The Iron Mask Decision authorized by the Project EA will likely cause
foreseeable adverse direct, indirect and cumulative impacts on wildlife.

128.

The BLM’s failure to analyze these impacts makes assessment of the
environmental consequences of the Project impossible.

129.

The BLM failed to disclose and analyze the cumulative effects of past grazing
on the Indian Creek Forage Reserve on wildlife.

130.

The BLM’s failure to disclose and analyze the cumulative effects of past
grazing on the Indian Creek Forage Reserve on wildlife is a violation of NEPA
and the APA.

131.

The BLM failed to disclose and analyze cumulative effects of past treatments
in the project area.

132.

The BLM’s failure to consider these impacts was arbitrary and capricious and
unlawful in violation of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C), NEPA’s implementing
regulations, and the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
The Iron Mask Decision violates FLPMA and APA
133.

All previous paragraphs are incorporated by reference.

134.

The BLM violated FLPMA, 43 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq., and the implementing
regulations, handbook, manual and policies adopted by the BLM under
FLMPA, in approving the Iron Mask Decision. This claim is brought pursuant
to the judicial review provisions of the APA, 5 US.C. § 706.

135.

FLMPA imposes procedural and substantive statutory requirements upon
BLM’s management of the public lands in question here, including multiple
use/sustained yield, and preventing unnecessary or undue degradation of
the public lands and resources. Pursuant to these and other statutory
authorities, Defendants have adopted various regulations, handbooks,
manuals, conservation strategies, and other policies relating to its
management of the public lands, including BLM's grazing regulations, 43
C.F.R. Part 4100; BLM's Fundamentals of Rangeland Health regulations, 43
C.F.R. 4180 et seq; and the Special Status Species Policy, Section 6840 of the
BLM Manual (2001).

136.

The Special Status Species Policy requires that BLM “shall ensure that actions
authorized, funded or carried out by the BLM do not contribute to the need
for the species to become listed.” See BLM Manual 6841.06C.

137.

FLPMA governs the management of the federal public lands by the Bureau of
Land Management. Under FLPMA, BLM must develop land use plans for the
public lands under its control. 43 U.S.C. § 1712. All resource management
decisions made by BLM must conform to the approved land use plan. 43
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C.F.R. § 1610.5-3(a). To conform to a land use plan, a resource management
decision “shall be specifically provided for in the plan, or if not specifically
mentioned, shall be clearly consistent with the terms, conditions, and
decisions of the approved plan.” 43 C.F.R. § 1601.0-5. Prior to carrying out a
proposed action that is not clearly consistent with the land use plan, BLM
must amend the plan, complying with NEPA and allowing for public
participation. 43 C.F.R. §§ 1610.5-3, 1610.5-5.
138.

The Butte RMP requires that wildlife and wildlife habitats within the Elkhorn
Mountain ACEC “be managed to support populations of species associated
with endemic vegetative communities, with emphasis on providing
necessary habitat components for those species with special needs.”

139.

The Iron Mask EA fails to disclose this requirement and further fails to
disclose the Project’s impacts on species associated with endemic vegetative
communities and species with special needs and special status species.

140.

The BLM fails to disclose its duty to safeguard special status species and
further fails to analyze and disclose the impacts of the Project on special
status species.

141.

The Butte RMP provides specific objectives and conditions regarding
shrubland, grassland and riparian treatments.

142.

The Iron Mask EA fails to disclose these objectives and further fails to
demonstration consistency to these objectives.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
The Iron Mask Environmental Assessment does not analyze a reasonable range of
alternatives or apply the best available science to ensure wildlife viability
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143.

All previous paragraphs are incorporated by reference.

144.

An environmental assessment must include an analysis of reasonable
alternatives.

145.

Thus, vegetation treatments and grazing authorizations that are authorized
in a Decision Record and analyzed in an EA must consider a reasonable range
of alternatives.

146.

As set forth above, the primary values for the Iron Mask Decision Area are
wildlife and habitat.

147.

The BLM is required to disclose and apply the best available science to guide
vegetation and wildlife management.

148.

The grazing allotments within the Elkhorn ACEC, including the Indian Creek
Forage Reserve Allotment, are not meeting Land Health Standards.

149.

The Iron Mask EA fails to consider a no grazing alternative that promotes
wildlife and wildlife habitat as required by the Elkhorn ACEC designation and
the Butte RMP.

150.

A reasonable alternative for the Iron Mask EA would be an alternative that
promotes wildlife and wildlife habitat by using current science and
consultation with State biologists to: (a) ensure well-distributed habitat for
elk and other endemic species of concern throughout the planning area; (b)
establish grazing capacity based for promotion of wildlife values; and, (c)
address forage and displacement problems during grazing and hunting
seasons.
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151.

The BLM’s failure to analyze a reasonable range of alternatives for the Iron
Mask Project violates NEPA and APA.

152.

The BLM failed to disclose what scientific principals or studies support the
BLM’s conclusion Iron Mask Project will benefit wildlife and wildlife habitat.

153.

The BLM failure to identify and apply the best available science for the Iron
Mask Project violates NEPA, FLMPA and the APA.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
The BLM failed to analyze impacts on the Elkhorn Mountain ACEC, in violation of
NEPA and the APA
154.

All previous paragraphs are incorporated by reference.

155.

The regulations implementing NEPA require the Defendants to disclose and
analyze the environmental effects of the proposed action and alternatives to
it. 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b). Specifically, the regulation explains that “NEPA
procedures must insure that environmental information is available to public
officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken.
The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert
agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.”
Id.

156.

NEPA “requires the Federal agencies to assess the environmental
consequences of their actions before those actions are undertaken.”
Klamath–Siskiyou Wildlands Center v. Bureau of Land Management, 387 F.3d
989, 993 (9th Cir. 2004).
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157.

The BLM is required to prepare a “detailed statement” of environmental
consequences for “major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of
the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(C).

158.

In determining whether a proposed action may “significantly impact the
environment, both the context and intensity of the action must be
considered. 40 C.F.R. §1508.27

159.

In evaluating intensity, the agency must consider numerous “significance”
factors, including impacts that may be both beneficial and adverse and the
unique characteristics of the geographic area such as proximity to
ecologically critical areas. 40 C.F.R. §1508.27(b).

160.

If the agency's action may be environmentally significant according to any of
the criteria, the agency must prepare an Environmental Impact Statement
(EIS). The presence of several significance factors, when considered
cumulatively, can require the preparation of an EIS.

161.

“An agency’s decision not to prepare an EIS will be considered unreasonable
if the agency fails to supply a convincing statement of reasons why potential
effects are insignificant.” Blue Mountains Biodiversity Project v. Blackwood,
161 F.3d 1208, 1211 (9th Cir. 1998).

162.

The Iron Mask EA failed to analyze and disclose the Project’s indirect, direct
and cumulative effects on the unique characteristics of the Elkhorn Mountain
Area of Critical Environmental Concern and the Elkhorn Cooperative
Management Area, which makes assessment of the environmental
consequences of the Project impossible.
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
The Iron Mask EA violates NEPA and the APA by failing to consider the Johnny Crow
Project in the cumulative impacts analysis.
163.

All previous paragraphs are incorporated by reference.

164.

The BLM is required to analyze the cumulative impacts of the Iron Mask
Project.

165.

Cumulative impact is the impact on the environment, “which results from the
incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present and
reasonably foreseeable future actions regardless of what agency (Federal or
non-Federal) or person undertakes such other actions. Cumulative impacts
can result from individually minor but collectively significant actions taking
place over a period of time.” 40 C.F.R. § 1508.7.

166.

As set forth above, the Johnny Crow Project and the Iron Mask Project share a
common border. The treatment areas in the Johnny Crow Project are close in
distance, if not adjacent to, the treatment units in the Iron Mask Project.

167.

The BLM failed to disclose the existence of the Johnny Crow Project in the
Iron Mask EA and further failed to analyze the cumulative impact of the
Johnny Crow Project together with the Iron Mask Project.

168.

The BLM’s failure to disclose and analyze the adjacent and simultaneous
Johnny Crow Project in the Iron Mask EA violates NEPA and the APA.
VII.

RELIEF REQUESTED

For all of the above-stated reasons, Plaintiffs request that this Court award the
following relief:
A.

Declare that the Project violates the law;
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B.

Enjoin implementation of the Project;

C.

Award Plaintiffs their costs, expenses, expert witness fees, and
reasonable attorney fees under EAJA; and

D.

Grant Plaintiffs any such further relief as may be just, proper, and
equitable.

Respectfully submitted this 23rd Day of March, 2018.

/s/Kristine M. Akland
Kristine M. Akland
AKLAND LAW FIRM PLLC
Thomas Woodbury
FOREST DEFENSE PC
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

